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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

|
ARLETTE MILLER, on Behalf of Herself
and All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiff,
VS,

WACHOVIA CORPORATION,
WACHOVIA CAPITAL TRUST IX, G.
KENNEDY THOMPSON, MARK C.
TREANOR, THOMAS J. WURTZ, PETER
M. CARLSON, JOHN D. BAKER II,
ROBERT J. BROWN, PETER C.
BROWNING, JOHN T, CASTEEN, III,
JEROME A. GITT, WILLIAM H,
GOODWIN, JR., MARYELLEN C.
HERRINGER, ROBERT A. INGRAM,
DONALD M. JAMES, MACKEY I,
McDONALD, JOSEPH NEUBAUER,
TIMOTHY D. PROCTOR, ERNEST 8.
RADY, VAN L. RICHEY, RUTH G.
SHAW, LANTY L. SMITH, JOHN C,
WHITAKER, JR., DONA DAVIS YOUNG,
WACHOVIA CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC,
CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS INC,,
MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED, MORGAN
STANLEY & CO. INCORPORATED and
UBS SECURITIES LLC,

Defendants.

Filed 02/29/2008
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NOTICE OF REMOVAL

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendants Wachovia Corporation, Wachovia

Capital Trust IX, and Wachovia Capital Markets, L1.C (the “Wachovia Defendants™) and

Defendants G. Kennedy Thompson, Mark C. Treanor, Thomas J. Wurtz, Peter M. Carlson, John

D. Baker II, Robert J. Brown, Peter C. Browning, John T. Casteen, I, Jerome A. Gitt, William
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H. Goodwin, Jr., Maryellen C. Herringer, Robert A. Ingram, Donald M. James, Mackey J. |
McDonald, Joseph Neubauer, Timothy D. Proctor, Ernest S. Rady, Van L. Richey, Ruth G.

Shaw, Lanty L. Smith, John C. Whitaker, Jr., and Dona Davis Young (the “Individual

Defendants™) (collectively, the “Removing Defendants™), by and through their undersigned
attorneys, hereby remove the above-captioned civil action, and all claims and causes of action
therein, from the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Nassau, to the United
States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, pursuant to (i) 28 U.S.C. §§ 1441,
1446, and 15 U.S.C, § 77p(c) and (ii} in the alternative, 28 U.S.C, § 1332(d). The Removing
Defendants appear for the purpose of removal only and for no other purpose, reserve all defenses
and rights available to them, and state as follows:

1. Plaintiff filed the above-~captioned putative class action on January 31,
2008 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Nassau, under Index. No.

001970/2008 (the “State Court Action”). Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a) and Rule 81.1(b) of

the Local Civil Rules of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York,
copies of the Summons and Complaint filed in the State Court Action are attached hereto as
Exhibit A.

2. This action is within the original jurisdiction of this Court under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1331 and 15 U.S.C. § 77v(a) because it purports to assert federal claims arising under the
Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”). In particular, Plaintiff purports to assert claims
against all Defendants under Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act. Plaintiff also

purports to assert claims against the Individual Defendants under Section 15 of the Securities

Act,
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3. This action is removable under 28 U.S,C. § 1441(a) and the Securities
Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1998 (“SLUSA™), Pub. L. No. 105-353, 112 Stat. 3227
(1998). Under 28 U.S.C. § 1441, “[e]xcept as otherwise expressly provided by Act of Congress,
any civil action brought in a State court of which the district courts of the United States have
original jurisdiction may be removed ... to the district court of the United States embracing the
place where such action is pending.”

4, SLUSA amended the Securities Act to create an exception to the
Securities Act’s non-removal provision. As amended by SLUSA, Section 22(a) of the Securities

Act provides that “[e]xcept as provided in Section 16(¢), no case arising under this title and

brought in any State court of competent jurisdiction shall be removed to any court of the United
States.” 15 U.S.C. § 77v(a) (emphasis added). As alleged in the Complaint, this case arises
“under this title,” namely the Securities Act, Section 16(c) of the Securities Act provides that
“[a]ny covered class action brought in any state court involving a covered security, as set forth in
subsection (b), shall be removable to the federal district court for the district in which the action
is pending ....” 15 U.S.C. § 77p(c).! Section 16(b) refers to covered class actions alleging “an
unirue statement or omission of material fact in connection with the purchase or sale of a covered
security” or “that the defendant used or employed any manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in connection with the purchase or sale of a covered security.” 15 U.S.C. § 77p(b).
As alleged in the Complaint and as set forth below, this action is a covered class action alleging
untrue statements or omissions of material fact in connection with the purchase or sale of a

covered security.

' Removal to this Court is based upon the allegations of the Complaint. The Removing Defendants do

not concede, and expressly preserve, all rights and objections with respect to the allegations that this
action properly has been brought, or may be prosecuted as, a class action,

3-
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5. This action i$ a “covered class action” within the meaning of 15 U.8.C. §
TTp(D)(2)(A) because (i) Plaintiff is seeking the recovery of damages on behalf of herself and a
prospective class of other similarly situated purchasers of Wachovia Capital Trust IX 6.375%
Trust Preferred Securities (the “Securities”) and Plaintiff alleges that questions of law or fact
common to the members of the prospective class predominate over any questions affecting only
individual persons or members and (ii) damages are sought on behalf of more than 50 persons or
prospective class members and Plaintiff alleges that questions of law or fact common to those
persons or members of the prospective class, without reference to issues of individualized
reliance on an alleged misstatement or omission, predominate over any questions affecting only
individual persons or members. See Compl. 4 41-46.

6. This action involves a “covered security” because, as alleged in the
Complaint, the Securities were publicly offered and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
15 U.S.C. § 77p(f)(3); 15 U.S.C. § 77r(b)(1); Compl. § 50.

7. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claims are removable to this Court under 28
US.C. § 1441 and 15 U.S.C. §§ 77p(c) and 77v. See, e.g., Rubin v. Pixelplus Co., No. 06-CV-
2964 (ERK), 2007 W1 778485, at *6 (E.D.N.Y. March 13, 2007); Brody v. Homestore, Inc., 240
E. Supp. 2d 1122, 1124 (C.D. Cal. 2003); Alkow v. TXU Corp., No, 3:02-CV-2738-K, 2003 WL
21056750, at *1-2 (N.D. Tex, May 8, 2003).

8. Alternatively, if Plaintiff asserts that this action is not a “covered class
action” or does not involve a “covered security,” then it is removable under the Class Action
Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA™), Pub. L. No. 109-2 (2005), codified at 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) and

1453, Pursuant to 28 U,S.C. § 1332(d), as amended by CAFA, a putative class action

commenced after February 18, 2005 may be removed to the appropriate federal district court if:
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(i) any member of the putative class is a citizen of a state different from any defendant; (ii) the
putative class action consists of at least 100 putative class members; and (iii) the amount in
controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs, See 28
U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) & 1453.

0. This action was commenced after the effective date of CAFA and is a
class action in which at least one member of the putative class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a state
different from a defendant. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A). Defendant Wachovia Corporation
(“Wachovia”) is a financial holding company and bank holding company incorporated under
North Carolina law with its principal place of business in North Carolina. Defendant Wachovia
Capital Trust IX (“WCT™) is a statutory trust formed under Delaware law with its principal place
of business in North Carolina. Defendant Wachovia Capital Markets LLC (“WCM™) is a
Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business in North Carolina,
Defendant Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“CGMI™) is a New York corporation with its principle
place of business in New York. Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated
(“Merrill Lynch”) is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York.

Defendant Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“Morgan Stanley™) is a Delaware corporation

with its principal place of business in New York. Defendant UBS Securities LLC (“UBS”)is a
Delaware limited liability company with its principle place of business in Connecticut. Upon
information and belief, Plaintiff is a citizen of New York. See Compl. 7. Accordingly, because
there is diversity between Plaintiff and the Wachovia Defendants at least one member of the

proposed class is a citizen of a state different from at least one defendant and the minimal

diversity requirements of CAFA arc therefore satisfied. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(C).
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10,  Moreover, this action is removable under CAFA notwithstanding the fact
that certain defendants are citizens of New York, the state in which the action was brought. See
§ 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b) (“[A] class action may be removed ... without regard to whether any
defendant is a citizen of the State in which the action is brought ... .”).

11.  CAFA requires that “the number of members of all proposed plaintiff
classes in the aggregate” be at least 100.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)}(5)(B). Plaintiff alleges that
“there are hundreds of members in the proposed Class,” Compl. § 42, Accordingly, based upon
the allegations in the Complaint, the requirement that the number of members in the putative
class be 100 or more is satisfied. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B).

12.  In addition, upon information and belief, the amount in controversy
exceeds $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), as amended
by CAFA, the amount in controversy in a putative class action is determined by aggregating the
claims of all members, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6). Here, the Complaint alleges that Defendants
made misstatements and omissions in connection with the public sale of 30 million of the
Securities for proceeds of approximately $750,000,000.00 and that the value of the Securities has
declined substantially due to Defendants’ alleged violations. See, e.g., Compl. § 3. Plaintiff
further alleges that the Sccurities were issued for $25.00 per Security and that the prices of the
Securities dropped to “nearly $20” per Security following the announcements on which Plaintiff
purports to base her claims, See Compl. § 60. These allegations suffice to meet CAFA’s amount
in controversy requirement.

13.  The Wachovia Defendants were served with the Summons and Complaint

on February 5, 2008, and Plaintiff attempted to serve the Individual Defendants the same day.”

The Individual Defendants do not concede that this attempt was good service.

-6-
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Defendants Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley, and UBS were served on February 6, 2008.
Defendant CGMI was served on February 7, 2008. Because this Notice of Removal is being
filed within 30 days of the earliest date that any of the Defendants were served with the
Complaint, it is timely filed under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).

14,  Defendants will promptly serve a copy of this Notice on counse] for
Plaintiff and will file a copy of this Notice with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of the State of
New York, County of Nassau, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d).

15.  All Defendants who have been properly served concur in the removal of
this action to this Court, subject to and without waiving any defenses and rights available to
them.

16.  No other process, pleading, or order has been served on Defendants in this
action,

WHEREFORE, Defendants Wachovia Corporation, Wachovia Capital Trust IX,
Wachovia Capital Markets, LI.C, G. Kennedy Thompson, Mark C. Treanor, Thomas J. Wurtz,
Peter M. Carlson, John D, Baker 11, Robert J. Brown, Peter C, Browning, John T, Casteen, 111,
Jerome A. Gitt, William H. Goodwin, Jr., Maryellen C. Herringer, Robert A, Ingram, Donald M.

James, Mackey J. McDonald, Joseph Neubauer, Timothy D. Proctor, Ermest S. Rady, Van L.

Richey, Ruth G, Shaw, Lanty L. Smith, John C. Whitaker, Jr., and Dona Davis Young
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respectfully request removal of this action from the Supreme Court of the State of New York,
County of Nassau, to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York.

Dated: New York, New York
February 29, 2008

MILBANK, TWEED, HADLEY & McCLOY
LLP

James(X. Benedict (YB-6240)
Douglas W. Henkin (DH-1751)
Robert C. Hora (RH-7672)

1 Chase Manhattan Plaza

New York, NY 10005-1413

(212) 530-5000

Attorneys for Defendants Wachovia
Corporation, Wachovia Capital Trust IX, G.
Kennedy Thompson, Mark C. Treanor, Thomas
J. Wurtz, Peter M, Carlson, John D. Baker 11,
Robert J. Brown, Peter C. Browning, John T.
Casteen, III, Jerome A. Gitt, William H.
Goodwin, Jr., Maryellen C. Herringer, Robert
A. Ingram, Donald M. James, Mackey J.
McDonald, Joseph Neubauer, Timothy D.
Proctor, Ernest S. Rady, Van L. Richey, Ruth
G. Shaw, Lanty L. Smith, John C. Whitaker,
Jr., Dona Davis Young, and Wachovia Capital
Markets, LLC
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Exhibit A
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_ SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF NASSAU

ARLETTE MILLER, on Behalf of Herself .

- and All Others Similarly Situated,
Plaintiff,
v, |

WACHOVIA CORPORATION,
“'WACHOVIA CAPITAL TRUST IX, G,
KENNEDY THOMPSON, MARK C.
TREANOR, THOMAS J. WURTZ,

PETER M. CARLSON, JOHN D. BAXER

11, ROBERT J. BROWN, PETER C.

. BROWNING, JOHN T. CASTEEN, 111,
JEROME A. GITT, WILLIAM H.
GOODWIN, JR., MARYELLEN C,
HERRINGER, ROBERT A.INGRAM,
DONALD M. JAMES, MACKEY J,
McDONALD, JOSEPH NEUBAUER,
TIMOTHY D. PROCTOR, ERNEST S.
RADY, VAN L. RICHEY, RUTH G.
SHAW, LANTY L. SMITH, JOHN C,
WHITAKER, JR., DONA DAVIS
YOUNG, WACHOVIA CAPITAL

MARKETS; LLC, CITIGROUP GLOBAL :

MARKETS INC., MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH

INCORPORATED, MORGAN STANLEY -

& CO. INCORPORATED and UBS
SECURITIES LLC

Defendants,

To the above named Defendant;

miectio: ) 01 *10/;700?

Date Purchased:

Plaintiff designates Nassau County
as the place of trial,

The basis of the venue is
Plaintiff’s Residence

SUMMONS

Plaintiff(s) resides at
855 Briar Place
Woodmere, New York 11598

FEB 0 5 2008

LEGAL DIVISION

. [ IR
verd oy Bu)

COULT

SRR AT LD
N T e

You are hereby summoned to answer the complaint in tlus action and to serve a copy of your
answer, or, if the complaint is not served with this summons, to serve a notice of appearance, on the
Plaintiff's Attorney(s) within 20 days after the service of this summons, exclusive of the day of
service (or within 30 days after the service is complete if this sunumons is not personally delivered to
you within the State of New York); and in case of your failure to appear or answet, Judgment wzllbe
taken against you by defanlt for the relief demanded in the complaint,

Page 10 of 37
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Melville, New York

DATED:
January 31, 2008
Defendant’s address:

Wachovia Corporation .

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

G. Kennedy Thompson

¢/o Wachovia Corporidtion

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Document 1

Filed 02/29/2008
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COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER RUDMAN

" ROBBINS LLP : :

P

By\_SAMUEL H, RUDMAN
DAVID A. ROSENFELD
MARIO ALBA, JR.

58 South Service Road, Suite 200
Melville, NY 11747

Telephone: 631/367-7100
631/367-1173 (fax)

COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER
RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP
DARREN J. ROBBINS
DAVID C. WALTON
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: 619/231-1058
619/231-7423 (fax)

ABRAHAM FRUCHTER

. & TWERSKY LLP
JACK G. FRUCHTER

One Pennsylvania Plaza, Suite 2805 |

New York, NY 10119
Telephone: 212/279-5050
212/279-3655 (fax)

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Wachovia Capital Trust Ix
c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center -
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Mark C, Treanor

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301. South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288
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. Thomas J. Wurtz
¢/0 Wachovia Corporation
301 South College Street,
Suite 4000
One Wachovia Center
* Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Jobn D, Baker I

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
‘Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Peter C. Browning

¢/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center -
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Jerome A. Gitt

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Maryelien C, Herringer

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charloite, North Carolina 28288

Donald M, James

¢/0 Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Joseph Neubauer

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Document 1 Filed 02/29/2008

Peter M. Carlson

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Robert J. Brown

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

John T. Casteen, 111

- ¢/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000 -

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

William H. Goodwin, Jr.
c/o Wachovia Corporation

- 301 South College Street,

Suite 4000 -
One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Robert A. Ingram

c/o Wachovia Corporation
301 South College Street,
Suite 4000

- One Wachovia Center

Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

. Mackey J, Mcdonald

¢/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Timothy D. Proctor

- ¢/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Page 12 of 37
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Ernest 8, Rady .

‘c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000 ‘ '

One Wachovia Center .
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Ruth G. Shaw

c/0 Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center

Charlotte, North Carolina 28288 -

John C. Whitaker, Jr.

¢/o Wachovia Corporation .
301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC

Merrill Lynch

‘World Financial Center, North Tower
250 Vescy Street '
New York, New York 10080

Morgan Stanley & Co, Incorporated
1585 Broadway
New York, NY 10036

Document 1

- - -

Filed 02/29/2008

1

Van L. Richey

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,
Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Caroling 28288

Lanty L. Smith

c/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Dona Davis Young

¢/o Wachovia Corporation

301 South College Street,

Suite 4000

One Wachovia Center
Charlotte, North Carolina 28288

Citigroup Global Markets Inc,
388 Greenwich St

" New York, NY 10013
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated
World Financial Center, North Tower
250 Vesey Street

- New York, New York 10080

UBS Securities LLC ,
1285 Avenue of The Americas
New York NY 10019

Page 13 of 37
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK .

COUNTY OF NASSAU

and All Others Similarly Sltuated
Plaintiff,

V&.

WACHOVIA CORPORATION,
WACHOVIA CAPITAL TRUST IX, G.
KENNEDY THOMPSON, MARK C.
TREANOR, THOMAS J. WURTZ,

PETER M. CARLSON, JOHN D. BAKER *

I, ROBERT J. BROWN, PETER C.
BROWNING, JOHN T. CASTEEN, 1L,
JEROME A. GITT, WILLIAM H.
GOODWIN, JR., MARYELLEN C.
HERRINGER, ROBERT A. INGRAM,
DONALD M. JAMES, MACKEY J.
‘McDONALD, JOSEPH NEUBAUER,
TIMOTHY D. PROCTOR, ERNEST S.
RADY, VAN L. RICHEY, RUTH G.
SHAW, LANTY L. SMITH, JOBN C.
WHITAKER, JR., DONA DAVIS
YOUNG, WACHOVIA CAPITAL

MARKETS, LLC, CITIGROUP GLOBAL *

MARKETS INC., MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH

INCORPORATED, MORGAN STANLEY *

& CO, INCORPORATED and UBS
SECURITIES LLC,

Defendants.

X
ARLET’I'E MILLER, on Behalf of Herself

Index No. OO H_]O/&UO 5’7

CLASS ACTION

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF
THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
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NATURE OF TIIE ACTION

1. Thls is a securities class action on behalf of all persons who acquired thc
preferred stock of Wachov1a Corporatmn (“Waehovm” or the “Company’ )pursuant and/or
h‘aceable toa false and mlsleadmg reg1stran on statement and prespectus (collecuve]y, the
“Regmtratlon Statement”) issued in connection with the Company s May 200? offering of
the Company s 6.375% Trust Preferred Securities (the “Offenng”). This action asscrts strict
lieeﬂity claims under t}te Securities Act of 1933 (1933 Act”) against Wachovia, its senior

| insiders, the Wachovia trust which issued the securities, and the investment banks which
enderwrote the May 2007 Offering (collectively, “Defendants”).

2. Defendant Wachovia is registered as a financial holding company and a bank
holding company, and provides comunercial and retail banking and trust services through
fall-service banking offices. Wachovia is headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina and
has branch offices in the United States and around the globe.

3. Defendants consummated Wachovia’s Offering pursuant to the false and
misleading Registration Statement, selling 30 million shares at $25 per share, for proceeds of
approximately $750 million, |

4, Wachovia ultimately announced huge charges associated with its mortgage

portfolio, causing the price of Wachovia’s common stock and the preferred securities issned

in the Offering to decline,
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5. The trae facts which were ormtted from the Regrstratloo Staternent were: -

(a) Defendants ponfoho of collaterahzed debt oblrgatmns (“CDOs”)
contamed brlhono of dollars worth of impaired and nsky securities, many of which were
backed 'by ‘subpnmc morigage loans; |
| C (b) ' Defendants failed'to properly accourit for highly leveraiged loans such as
roortgage secuntles and | | | |

(o) Wachovra had been heavﬂy involved in mortgages involving the pay-
opuon adjustable rate mortgages (“ARMs”) These pay-optmn ARMS provided that during .
the mmal term of the loan borrowers could pay only as much as they desired with any
underpayment being added to the loan balance, These loans would become toxic (for both
Wachovia and the borrowers) once house prices stopped increasing at a rapid rate.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
6. The claims alleged herein arise under §611, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the 1933 Aot,
15 U.S, C §§77k 77)(2)(2) and 770. Juﬁsdiction is conferred by §22 of the 1933 Act and
venue is proper pursuant t0 §22 of the 1933 Act. Section 22 of the 1933 Act exphcn;ly statea

th at “[e]xcept as prowded in secnon 16(c), no case arising under this tltle and brought inany

State court of competent jurrsdxcnon shall be removed to any court in the United States.”
Section 16(c) refers to “covered class actions,” which are defined as lawsuits brought as class
acrione or brought on beha]f of more than '56 persons asserting claims under state or
common law Th.lS is an action aesernng federal law clalrns Thus it does not fall within the
definition of a “covered class action” under §16(b)-(c) and tberefore is not removable to

federal court under the Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1998,

_2.
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z

7 .' The violations of law c;)mplained of herein occurred mthxs County, including -

. the p_re-par‘ation apd dissemination of the materially false‘ and misleading Registration
Stétement complaiﬁed of hercin, ‘which statements were dissénﬁnatcd'into this County.
Wﬁdhoifia and each of thc underwriter defendanfs conduct business in this County, Piaintiff
resides m this .Cou‘nty.-‘

- | PARTIES N
_ 8. Plaintiff Arlette Miller aéquired the prefcrréd securiﬁés of Wachovia pursuant -
or traceable to the Offering and has been dainagéd fherebyﬂ.

9. . Defendant Wachovia is headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina,

: .Wachovia is the sponsored trastee of Wachovia Capital Trust IX, - |

10.  Defendant Wachovia Capital Trust IX (the “Ts_rust”) was designed to sell
preferred securities and invest the proceeds in Wachovia assets,

11. Dcfeﬁdant G. Kennedy Thompson (“Thompson™) is, and at all relevant_ times
was, Chairman of the Bpard, Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ™) 'and Presidcnt of Wachovia,
Thompson signed the Registfatidn Stétément. | -

12, Defendant Mark C. Treanor (“Treanor”) is, and at all relevant times was,
Senior Executive Vice‘P;esident, Secretary and Génefal Counsel of Wachovia. Treanor
signed the .Regisﬁ‘aﬁon Statement.. _

13. Defendaht Thomas J. Wurtz (“Wurtz”) is, and at all relevant times Qas; Chief

Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Senior 'Executivé Vice President of Wachovia. Defendant

Wurtz signed the Registration Statement,
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14, | Defendant Peter M Carlson (“Carlson”) was, at all relevant times, a director of
Wachovia, Defendant Carlson signed the Registration Statement. | | |
15.  Defendant John D.' Baker 11 (“Bakéx”) was, at all relevant.times, a dfn:éctor of
Wachovia. Defendant Baker signed the Registration Sta‘c.eméntf |
| 16, : Defendant Robert J. Brown (“Brown™) was, at all relevant times, a director of
Wachovia. Defendant Brown signed the Registration Statement. |
17. befendant Peter C. Brovs'rnihg (“Browning”™) was, at all relevant times, a
director of Wachovial. Defendant Browning signed.the_ Registration Statement.
18, Defe_ndant John T. Casteen, III (*“Casteen”) was, at all relevant ﬁﬁles, e.a director
of Wachovia. Defendant Casteen sig;led the Registration Statement, |
19, | Defendant Jerome A. Gitt (“Gitt”) was, at all relevant times, a director of
Wachovia. Defendant Gitt signed the Registration Staternent.
20, Defendant William H, Goodwin, I, (“Goodwin™) was, at all relevant times, a.
dirc‘c;tor of Wachovia. Defendant Goodwin.si gned the Registration Statement.
21.  Defendant MaryEllen C. Herringer (“Hcrringer”) was, at all relevant timcé, a
director of Wachovia.- ‘Defendant Herringer signed the Registration Statement.
2, Deféndant Robert A. Ingram (“Ingram™) was, at all re]e\}ant times, a director of

Wachovia, Defendant Ingram signed the Registration Statement.

123, Dcfeﬂdant Donald M. James (“James™) was, at all relevant times, a director of

Wachovia, De_fendarit James signed the Registration Statement.

24, " Defendant Mackey J. McDonald (“McDonald”) was, at all relevant times, a

director of Wachovia. Defendant MéDonald signed the Registration Statement.

4.
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25, i)efendant Yoseph Neubauer (“Neubauer™) was, at all relevant times, a director
- of Wachovia. ljefendant Neubauer signed the Registration Statement,
26, Defendant Timothy D. Proctor {“Proctor’) was, at all relevant tirnes, a director
of Wachovia. Defendant’ Proctor signed the Registrat.ion Statement,
27. Dcfendant‘Emes.t S. Rady (“Rady”) was, af all relevant timcé, a director of
'Waéhévia. Defendant Rady signed the Registration Statement.
28.  Defendant Van L. Richey (“Richey’™) was, at gll relevant times, a director of
Wac::hovia. Defendant Richey signed the Regfstration Statement, |
29. Defendant Ruth G. Shaw (“Shaw™) was, at all relevant times, a director of
Waéhovia. quen(iant Shaﬁ signed the Registration Statement.
30. Defendant Lanty L. Smith (“Smith”) was, at all relevant times, a director of
Wachovia. Defendant Smith signed the Registration Statement.
31.  Defendant John C. Whitaker, Jr. (“Whitaker”) was, at all relevant times, a
director of Wachovia, Defendant \R’]litgkér signed the Registration Statement.
32. Defendant Dona Davis Young (“Young”) was, at éll relevant fitr;es, a director
of Wachovia. Defendant Young signed the Registration Statement.
33.  The defendants referenced above in 911-32 are refe[_red to hercin as the
“Individual Defendants.”
34, Defendant Wachoﬁa Capital Markets, LLC (“Waéhovia Capital™) is a non-

bank affiliate of Wachovia. Wachovia Capital acted as sole structuring coordinator and sole

Book Runner and an uﬁderwriter of the Offering,
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35.  Defendant Citigroup Global Markets Iﬁc. (“Ciﬁgroup”) was anunderwriterand -
‘ a senior co-managér of the 0ffen'né. |
36. Dcfenda.nf Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorpofated (“Merrill
Lyﬁéh”) was an underwriter and 2 senior cé—managef of the Offering. |
37. ' }'_‘).efendar;trMor.gan Stanley & Co. Incbrporétcd (“Morgém Stanley™) was an
“underwriter and a senior co-manager of the Offqring.
38. Defendant UBS Securities LLC (“UBS™) was an underwriter and a senior co-
manager c;f the Offering. | |
39. - Pursuant to the 1933 Act, the defendants referenced in 4934-38 above are
: fefefrcd to herein as the “Underwriter Defendants.” |
| 40,  The Underwriter Defendants are strictly lable for the false and misleading
statements in the Registration Statement. In connection W]th t_he Offering, the Underwriter

Defendants drafted and disseminated from this County the Registration Statement and were

paid fees in connection therewith, The Underwriter Defendants’ failure to conduct an

'édeﬁuate due diligence investigation was a substantial factor leading to the harm complained

of herein, .
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

41,  Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to CPLR 901, et seq., on
behalf of a class consisting of all persons or entities who acquired shares of Wachovia’s

6.37 5% Trust Preferred Securities pursuant and/or traceable to the Company’s Registration

Statement for its Offering and who were damaged thereby (the “Class”). Excluded from the

Class are defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times,

-6-
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members of fheir immediate Vfamilies éﬁd their legal representatives, heirs, successors or
assigns and any éntity in which defendants have or had a éontrol]_ing interest.

42. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all inelﬁbers is
imﬁracﬁcable. ‘While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiffat this time
hnd can only be ascertained through gﬁpropriate discovery, plaintiff believes tﬁat theré are
hundrctéls of members in the proposed Class. Record owners aﬁd other members of the Class
may be identified from records maintained by Wachovia or its transfer agent‘ and may be
notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that
customarily used in sccuﬁtics class actions. Wachovia has more than 32 million shares of -
preferred stock outstanding.

43,  Plainiiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all
members of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of
federal law that is complained of herein.

44,  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interesis of the members of the
Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced fn class and seéurities litigation,

45, Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predomiﬁate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among
the questions of law and fact common to the Class are: whether defendants violated the 1933
Act; whether the Registration Statement misrepresented and/or omitted material facts about

the business, operations and/or management of Wachovia; and to what extent the members

of the Class have sustained damages and the proper measure of damages,
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46, A blass action .is éupcrior to aﬁl other available rﬁethc_)ds for the fair and :
efﬁcient adjudicaﬁon of this controversy since joinder of éll members is imﬁracﬁcabl_e.
I;urtﬁerfr;ore, as thé daméges suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small,
the éxpeﬁse énd burden of inc_iividua] litigation makg it impossible for members of the Class
to individuall§ redress ..the v'vron'gS done to them, There will be no difficulty in the

" management of this action as a class action. |

BACKGROUND

47,  Wachovia was formed in 2001 when East Coast banking heavywéight First
Union bought Wachovia arid took the smaller firm’s name. Wachovia is the fourth-largest
‘ 'U.S. bank behind Citigroup, Bank of America and JP Morgan Chase, It has some 3,400

branches in around 20 eastern and southern states, as well as California, Retail brokerage

Wachovia Securities has more than 3,300 offices across the U.S.

48, In 2006, Wachovia acquired Golden West Financial, a mortgage company
specializing in ad‘justab'_le rate mortgages. These mortgages would ultimately be extremely
problematic in the mortgage melt-down.‘ By early 2007, Wachovia was alréat_iy experiencing
problems from these and other mortgages. |

THE FALSE AND DEFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS

49,  On or about February 7, 2007, Wachovia filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") a Form S-3 Registration Statement for the Preferred
Securities Offer-iﬁg. The securities were to be issued by the Trust, which is a Delaware trust

" designed to issue preferred securities and invest the proceeds from the sale of securities,

-8-
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.

50,  On or about May 1, 2007, Wachovia filed its Prospectus for the Offering,
which forms parf of ﬂae'Re'gistration Statement and which became effective on May 8, 2007,

and at least 30 million shares of Wachavia preferred stock"were sold to ﬁle _pubiic af $25.00

per share,

51, 'The Registration Staternent and Prospectus contained untrue statements of
material fact or omi_’ftg—:d to state other facts necessary to make the statements made therein

not misleading and. was not prepared in accordance with applicable SEC rules and

regulations.

52, 'I".hc-chisuation Statément and Prospectus included the following statements: -

At December 31, 2006, Wachovia had consolidated total assets of $707.1
billion, consolidated total deposits of $407.5 billion and consolidated
stockholders’ equity of $69.7 million.

53. The Registration Statement and Prospectus also incorporated by reference _
Wachovia’s 2006 Form 10-K which stated in part:

Goals for 2007

For the next year, we will maintain our focus on execution .as' we
migrate the Golden West mortgage model to Wachovia channels and as we
introduce Wachovia’s General Banking model to our new western markets.
At the same time, we will continue to grow our core businesses by capitalizing
on the opportunities I have discussed in this letter. I believe that the wealth of
opportunities available to us are a great indication of the slrength and potential

of this company.
‘Pride with Wachovia

Determination is one of the defining strengths of our company. We
take great pride in delivering on what we promise. In 2007 we are more -
determined than ever to ensure our investors share in our success, and we will
not rest until the markets respond with a valuation that reflects our financial

. performance. We fully expect to deliver on our goal of being a top quartile
performer for ourinvestors. . ,

-9-
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2006 was an important year for Wachovia for many reasons., One of
the most important was that it brought Herb and Marion Sandler into our
corporate family. Herb and Marion built a company, Golden West, which had
perhaps the greatest record of any American corporation over the last 25 years,
For the last few months Wachovia has been thé beneficiary of their
management skills and wisdom,

* * *

If more variable rate loans were added to our loan portfolio, we would likely
allow fixed rate securities to mature or we would liquidate them, and then add
new derivatives that, in effect, would convert the incremental variable rate -

- Joans to fixed rate loans. For example, Golden West option ARMs, despite
being a monthly floating rate product, reprice on an index that generally lags
changes in short-term rates. A portion of these option ARMs are funded with
short-term floating rate notes, which together create a profile that is liability-
sensitive as measured under our earnings sensitivity analysis. Therefore, in
advance of the Golden West merger, we reduced the size of our fixed rate
exposure in residential mortgage-backed securities and commercial mortgage-
backed securities in order to help achieve the desired interest rate risk profile
for the combined company.

54,  Thestatements above were inaccurate statements of material facts because they
failed to disclose the large amount of impaired mortgage debt on Wachovia’s balance sheet.
55.  Under the rules an_(i regulations governing the ﬁreparation of the Registration
Statement, the Registraﬁon Statement should have disclosed the following facts but did not:
(a) Defendants’ portfolio of CDOs contained billions of dollars worth of
impaired and risky securities, many of which were backed by subprime mortéage loans;
'(b) Defendants failed to properly account for highly leveraggd loans such as
mortgag‘é securities; and i |
(c) . Wachovia had been heavily involved in mortgages jnvolving the pay-
option adjustable ARMs, These pay-‘opﬁon ARMs provided that during the iﬁitial term of

the loan"bcjrrowers could pay only as much as they desired with any underpayment being

-10 -
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édded to the loan balance. These loans would become toxic (for both Wachovia and the

borrowers) once house prices stopped increasing at a rapid rate,

56.  Following the Offgﬁng, the Trust securities traded between $24 and $25 per

share.

57. " On October 19, 2007, .W.achovia issued a release announcing its financial

results for the full year 2006, which included results for the fourth quarter of 2006, which

stated in part:

. Lower eamings reflecting disruption in the capital markets
resulting’ in valvation losses of $1.3 billion before tax and
. teduced origination and distribution revermes in the Corporate

and Investment Bank. '

. Revenue growth led by a 28 percent increase in net interest
income, including Golden West, coupled with disciplined
expense control partially offset lower fee income.

. Average loans up 53 percent, driven by higher consumer real
estate loans related to the Golden West acquisition, and strong
organic growth in commercial, international and auto lending.

. Average core deposns up 30 percent, mc]udmg Golden West
Sales productivity solid in expanded markets. '

. Net charge-offs rose 3 basis points to an annualized 0,19 percent
of average net loans. Increased provision for credit losses
reflects modest deterioration in credit quality, a more uncertain
credit environment and loan growth. Higher nonperforming

“assets largely related to Golden West consumer real estate
NPAs and to higher commercial real estate NP As largely related
to downgrades of residential developers.

. Customer loyalty scores at near record 53.1 percent; organic
customer acquisition grew 14.8 percent annualized.

#* * *
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Wachovia‘ Cbrp. today reported net income of $1.69 billion, or 89 cents per
share, in the third quarter of 2007 compared with $1.88 billion, or $1.17 per
share, in the third quarter of 2006. '

After-tax net merger-related expenses amoiinted to 1 cent per common-

. share in the third quarter of 2007 and 2 cents per common share in the third

quarter of 2006. Excluding these expenses, earnings were $1.71 billion, or 90

cents per share, in the third quarter of 2007 and $1.90 billion, or $1. 19 per
share, in the tlurd quarter of 2006,

“I'm very proud of our ability to provide capital, liquidity and advice to
our customers and peers in the face of the disruption in the fixed income
markets in the third quarter, These conditions clearly had a disappointing
impact on the resulis of market-oriented businesses, but the strength in our
core banking and brokerage businesses continued to serve us very well,” said -
Ken Thompson, Wachovia chairman and chief executive officer. “Our loan
and deposit trends were solid, and our retail brokerage performance was strong
— and poised for even more growth as our A.G. Edwards colleagues join our
team. Additionally, the first of our World Savings branch and deposit
conversions was completed successfully last weekend, and going forward,
attention in our expanded platform returnis fully to sales production. While the

- impact of the market disruption was significant, it’s worth noting that the
majority of the lower market valuations in the third quarter largely arose from
a repricing of risk in the marketplace and do not reflect deterioration in the
underlying credit quality of the assets in our leveraged finance and commercial
real estate sccuritization businesses. Looking ahead, we're taking the
appropriate steps to ensure that as markets remain unsettled, we focus intently
on actively managing our exposures and controlling costs. Longer tern, we
believe the challenges of the third quarter will be an advantage to companies
like Wachovia with strong capital and liguidity posmons and 'a clear
understanding of the needs of customers and investors.”

Results in the third quarter of 2007 included the full quarter impact of
the October 1, 2006, acquisition of Golden West. Results do not include the
impact of the acquisition of A.G. Edwards, Inc,, a retail brokerage firm
headquartered in St. Louis, Missouri, which closed on October 1 of this year.

% * %

In the third quarter of 2007 compared with the third quarter of 2006,
Wachovia:

. Grew revenue 4 percent on higher loans and deposits, driven by
the addition of Golden West and organic growth, while fee and

-12 .
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other income declined reflecting disruption in the capital
markets in fixed income and other market-related fees,
including net valuation losses of:

° 1.3 biflion in the Corporate and Investment Bank on
structured products and leveraged finance warchouse
loans and commitments; and

°  $40 million in Capital Management on asset-backed
' commercial paper investments,

. Increased net interest income 28 percent reflecting growth in
average commercial loans, up 16 percent, and higher average
consumer loans, including the impact of acquisitions.

. Generated strong commercial loan growth led by strength in

| middle-market commercial, large corporate and international
lending. Increased consumer loans were led by higher real
estate loans primarily due to the addition of Golden West, as
well as growth in auto lending.

. Also generated 30 percent growth in average core deposits
while average low-cost core deposits were up 7 percent.

e  Generated continued strong performance in retail brokerage
managed account fees and solid retail brokerage transaction
activity. Strong principal investing results and higher traditional
banking fees also contributed to growth.

. Held nominterest expensc growih, including the effect of
- acquisitions, to 8 percent largely reflecting lower revenue-based
compensation in light of the market disruption.

. Recorded a provision for credit losses of $408 million reflecting
modest deterioration in-credit quality, a more uncertain credit
environment and loan growth. Net charge-offs were $206
million, or an annualized 0.19 percent of average net loans.
Total nonperforming assets including loans held for sale were
$3.0 billion, or 0.63 percent of loans, foreclosed properties and
loans held for sale.

Earnings in the third quarter of 2007 included a $249 million after-tax

benefit related to correction of errors primarily in earlier periods in 2007, This

" related primarily to incorrect application of hedge accounting to certain
~ variable rate demand deposits in the second quarter of 2007, Wachovia’s

-13-




-, - - - » » L
. Case 2:08-cv-00879-JS-WDW Document1  Filed 02/29/2008 Page 28 of 37

L)

management believes that this impact is not material to current or prior period
financial statements, and the Audit Committee of Wachovia’s Board of
Directors, based on information reviewed by management with the
Committee, concurred with management’s conclusion.,

58.  On this news, the price of Wachovia cornmon sfock dropped to $46.40 per

_ share. The stock continued to drift lower after this announcement on sﬁspicions the
Company ;Nould announce larger write-downs, The preferred shares fell from $23 in late
October to as Jow as $20.40 per share in the first weck of November, These fears were
confirmed on Nov‘embcr 8,2007, when Wachoviﬁ announced the Company was setting aside
$600 million in the fourth quarter and said securities linked to subprime mortgages dropped

by $1.1 billion in October 2007. This followed write-downs of $1.3 billion in the third |

quarter. Wachovia stated:

Wachovia Corporation today is providing information on the impact of market
volatility on its financial results for the month of October and is providing
further information on its expectation for credit costs for the fourth quarter of
2007 and certain additional information. Wachovia is providing this
information in advance of a presentation by a senior executive on November 9,
2007 to investors and. apalysts. This same information will be included in
Wachovia’s Third Quarter Report on Form 10-Q that will be filed on
November 9, 2007: ‘

October Market Events Following our October 2007 announcement
of third quarter 2007 results of operations and our financial outlook for the
remainder of 2007, certain financial markets experienced further deterioration,
particularly the markets for subprime residential mortgage-backed securities
(“RMBS”) and for collateralized debt obligations (*CDOs”) collateralized by
RMBS (“ABS CDOs™). In October, rising defaults and delinquencies in
subprime residential mortgages and rating agencies’ downgrades of a large
number of subprime residential mortgage-related securities led to
unprecedented declines in the ABX subprime indices, that contributed to a
rapid decline in the valuations of subprime RMBS and ABS CDOs.

* * *

.14 -
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The value of CDOs we have in our portfolio depends on the value of
the undeérlying collateral, ABS CDOs experienced declines in value correlated
to the declines in value of subprime RMBS in October. Our third quarter 2007
market msmpuon-relate.d logses’ totahng $1.3 billion pre-tax included $347
million of subpnmc-related valuation losses, net of hedges, on ABS CDOs.

- Due to the October market deterioration, these ABS CDOs experienced further
declmes in valye in the month of October 2007 by an amount we currently
estimate. to be approximately $1.1 billion pre-tax. . At October 31, 2007, we
had remaming exposure to ABS CDOs of $676 million, including on—balance
sheet positions and the notional amount of off-balance sheet positions,
compared to $I g bxlhon at September 30, 2007,

: We have exposure to subprime RMBS in other positions totaling $2.1

- bilion at both October 31, 2007, and September 30, 2007. Estimated

ggregate valuation losses of these other positions during the month of
October 2007 are mnnatenal net of hedges .

* % *

Of the remaining asset classes _thre we recorded market disruption-

related losses in the third quarter of 2007, the aggregate net market value

- changes in October in these investments have not been significant. These

asset classes include commercial mortgage, leveraged finance, consumer

morigage, and other structured credit products not collateralized by subprime

RMBS. Some of the markets for these asset classes continue to demonstrate

poor liquidity and higher than typical volatility while others have displayed
moderate stability in October.

The fair values of all of our assets that are subject to market valuation
adjustments, including subprime RMBS and ABS CDOs, depend on market
conditions and assumptions that may change over time, Accordingly, the fair
values of these investments in future periods, including at the end of the fourth
quarter, and their effect on our financial results, will depend on firture market,
developments and assumptions and may be materially greater or less than the
changes in values during October discussed above. For example, markets for
all asset classes discussed above have remained extraordinarily volatile in the
first week of November, with additional rating agencies’ downgrades on
subprime.RMBS and ABS CDOs, and credit spread widening and illiquidity.

Wachovia has historically been a major participant in structuring and'
underwriting CDOs. As measured by lead underwriter league table rankings, .
Wachovia ranked 3rd for both the first nine months of 2007 and the full year

- 2006, with issuance volumes of $19.6 billion and $23.4 billion, respectively.
* The primary focus of Wachovia’s CDO business has been, and continues to

-15-




. ,Case 2:08-cv5008797JS-WDW ‘Document 1 Filed 02/29/2008 Page 30 of 37

be, transactions backed by commercial loans and commercial real estate loans,
Our issuance of ABS CDOs has been limited. We ongmatcd three ABS
CDOs in the first nine months of 2007-and six in full year 2006, accounting
for approximately 16 percent and-23 percent, respectively, of the total issuance

olume of our CDO business during these periods. :

Additionally, due to anﬁc1pated loan growth and the impact of
‘continping crédit dctenoranon in our loan portfolio, we expect to increase our
allowance for loan losses in the fourth guarter of 2007. The expected credit
deterioration will:likely be focused in certain geographic areas that have
recently experienced dramatic declines in housing values. 'We expect that
these declines will correlate to increases in loan losses for loans originated
within the last two years within these geographlc areas. Accordingly,
Wachovia now expects to record a loan loss provision in the fourth quarter of
2007 by an amount estimated to be between $500 million and $600 million in
excess of charge-offs for the quarter. The actual provision will be determined
in accordance with our policies and procedures, will depend on credit
conditions and assumptions at quarter-end and may be materially greater or-
less than the ratige discussed in the preceding sentence,

59.  As the Associated Press reported on November 9, 2007, afier Wachovia’s

announcement.

Wachovia Corp. said Friday the yaiuc of securities it owns that are backed by
loans sank by about $1.1 billion in October, making it the latest major
financial institution to warn of continuing losses in the credit markets.

The nation’s fourth largest banking company also said it plans to boost
its allowance for loan losses in the fourth guarter duc to expccted credit
deterioration in the housing market i in certain regions. The provision is pegged
at $500 million to “5600 million in excess of charge-offs in the quarter.

Wachovia shares dropped $1.43, or 3.6 percent, to $38.87 in momjng
rading Friday afier falling to a new 52-week low of $38. 05

The news heightened fears that the fallout from the bubpnme furmoil is b
spreadmg deepcr into credit markets, Italsoraised questions about the bank’s :
October 2006 acquisition of adjustable-rate mortgage lender Golden West
Financial Corp. of Oakland, Calif,

“We believe the company is trying to get ahead of likely higher future
mortgage losses in California,” Deutsche Bank Securities analyst Mike Mayo
wrote in a client note. “Per Golden West, it now becomes even imore obvious
that Wachovia purchased the thrift at the wrong time of the cycle.”

-16 -
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The weakening matkets — which Wachovia estimates could get worse
over the last two months of the quarter — cut the value of the bank’s so-called
collateralized debt obligations by more than 60 percent.

A of Sept. 30, Wachovia had $1.8 billion in CDO exposure; after the
latest writedowns, the exposure is now $676 million.

CDOs are complex msh'uments that combme shces of different kind of
risk. CDOs are often backed, in part, by subprime mortgages — loans given to
customers with poor credit history. As those morigages have mcreasmgly
defaulted, the value of the CDOS has plummeted

* Wachovia has an additional $2.1 biltion of exposure to more traditional
subprlme mortgage-backed bonds. The value of those holdings remained
steady in October as hedging strategles offset losses, : o -

- Ima regulatory filing with the Securities and Exchange Commiission,
the financial services provider said the market in November so far remains
“extraordinarily volatile.”

Analysts polled by Thomson Financial, on average, were forecasting
earnings of $1.08 per share for Wachowa before the writedown
announcement,

. Friedman Billings Ramsey analyst Gary B. Townsend predicted Eriday
that Wachovia’s shares “will remain under pressure until real estate markets
and n'onper'formjng assets levels stabilize ?

60. - On ﬂus news, Wachovia’s stock price collapsed to below $40 per share. The
proferred shares dmpped to nearly $20 per share on thls news. . |

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of §11 of the 1933 Act
Against All Defendants

61.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges cach and every a]legation contained above, "

62. ’I"his‘Count is brought pursuant to §11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, on

behalf of the Class, against all defendants.
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63. The ‘chish'ation Statement was false and misleading, contained untrue
statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements
made ﬂot nﬁslea&ing, and dnlitted to state material facts require‘d to be stated there%n.

64. Wachovia is the regigtrant for the Offcrilng.‘ As issuer of the sharés, Wachovia
is strictly'ﬁable to plaintiff and the C}ass for the misstatements and orﬁissions. |

65. = The Individﬁal Defepdanis named herein were responsible for the confents and
dissermination of the Registration Statemeﬂt. Each of the Individual Defendaﬁts signed or

authorized the sigﬁing of the Registration Statement. None of the defendants named herein

made a rcasonable investigation or possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the .
statements contained in the Registration Statement were true and without omissions of any
material facts and were not misleading.

66. By reason of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant violated, and/t;r :
controlled a perso“n‘who violated, §11 of the 1933 Act,

67.I Plaintiff acquired WachoVié shares pursuant “and/or traceable to the
Registration'St'atement for the Offering, |

68.  Plaintiffand the Class have sustained damages, Atihe time of their purchases

- of Wachdvia shares, plainti ff and other members of the Class were without knowledge of the

facts concerning the wrongful (_:onduct alleged herein and could not, have reasonably
discovéred tho'se facts pribr_ to October 2007, Less than one year has elapsed from the time . i

that plaintiff discovered or reasonably conid have discovered the facts upon which this

complaint is based to the time that plaintiff filed this complaint. Less than three years
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| élapé ed between the time that the securities upon which this Count is brought were offered to
fhé"public and the time plaintiff filed this complaint,
| SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of §12(a)(2) of the 1933 Act
. Against All Defendants :

69. Plal;ntiff repeats and realleges the allegations se£ forth above as if set forth fully

herein. For purposes ofthis Cause of Action, plaintiff expressly exclﬁde,s and disclaims any

| allegation that coﬁld be construed as alleging fraud or intentional or reckless misconduct, as

this Cause of Action is based solely on claims of strict liability and/or negligence under the
1933 Act,

70. By means of the defective Registration Statement, defendants assisted in the
sale of shares of the Company’s securities to plaintiff and other members of the Class.

71, The Registration Statement coﬁtained untrue statements of material fact, and -
concealed and failed to disclose material facts, as detailed above. Defendants owed piaintiff
and the other members of the Class who purchased Wachovia securities pursuant to the
Registration Statement 'the duty to make a reésonable and diligent imlzesti'gation of the
statements contained in the Registration Statement to ensure that such statemen;ts were tme
and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be stated in order to make
the statements contained therein not misleading. Defendants, in the exercise of reasonable

care, should have known of the misstatements and omissions contained in the Registration =~ -

. Statement as set forth above.
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72.  Plaintiff did not know, nor in the exercise of reasonable diligence could have -

knbwﬁ, of the untraths and omissions contained in the Registrélﬁon Statement at the time she
acquired the Cdmpany’s'seéﬁﬁfies. |
| 73. By reasén éf the conduct alleged herein, defendants violated §12(a)(2) of the
1933 Act. As a direct Iand pfoxirnate resuli: of such 'violati'ons, plaintiff and the other
‘members of the Class who plirchas ed Waéhovia prefelred shares pursuant to the Regish"aﬁon
'Siateme.xﬁ sustained substantial &amag'es in connection with their pu:bhases of Wachovia
shares, Accordingly, plamtiff and the other members of the Class who hold such shares have
the right to rcscfnd and recc;.ver the consideration paid for their shares, and hereby tender
| Ithej]- sﬁafes to the defendants sued herein. Class mem‘bérs who have sold their shares seek
‘damages to the extent permitted by law.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of §15 of the 1933 Act
Against the Individual Defendants

74. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above,
75.  This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to §15 of the 1933 Act against the
Individual Defendants. |
76..  Eachofthe Individual Défendants was a control person of Wachovia by virtue
_of his or her position as a director, senior officer and/or major shareholders of Wachovia
which allowed each of these defendants fo exercise control over Wachovia and its
operations.
| 77.  Each of the Individual Defendants was a culpable participant in the violations

of §11 ofthe 1933 Act alleged in the Cause of Action above, based on their having signed or

-20-
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| éuthorized thé si gniﬁg ofthe Regishétio;:t Statement and having otherwise parﬁcipatca inthe
process which allowed the Offering to be successfully completed.
| PRAYER FOR RELIEF |
WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for rclicf and judgment, as follows: |
A.  Determining that this action is a proper class action and certifying plén'ntiff ag ja
Class representative; |
. B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiff and tl_le‘ other Class
memberé againstall defendants,joinﬂy and severally, for all dﬁmages sustained as a result of
defendants’ wrongdoing, In an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thc‘reon;
-C.  Awarding plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs énd expenses ﬁcuﬁed
in this action, including counsel fees and expert fees;
D. Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages; and
E. Such‘equitable/injunctive or other relief as deemed appropriate by the Court.
| JURY DEMAND "
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.
DATED: January 31, 2008  COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER
RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP
SAMUEL H. RUDMAN

DAVID A, ROSENFELD
MARIO ALBA, JR.

d’ SAMUEL 1. RUDMAN

58 South Service Road, Suite 200
Melville, NY 11747

Telephone: 631/367-7100
631/367-1173 (fax)

-21-
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COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER
RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP

" DARREN J, ROBBINS

DAVID C. WALTON

655 West Broadway, Suite 1900
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: 619/231-1058
619/231-7423 (fax)

ABRAHAM FRUCHTER

& TWERSKY LLP
JACK G. FRUCHTER
One Pennsylvania Plaza, Suite 2805
New York, NY 10119 _
Telephone: 212/279-5050
212/279-3655 (fax)

Attorneys for Plaintiff '

-22-
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<Index Number Year

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NASSAU

e e o
e p——

et

ARLETTE MILLER, on Behalf of Herself and All Others Similarly Situated, -
Plaintiff,
-against-

WACHOVIA CORPORATION, WACHOVIA CAPITAL TRUST IX, G, KENNEDY
THOMPSON, MARK C. TREANOR, THOMAS J. WURTZ, PETER M, CARLSON,

JOHN D. BAKER II, ROBERT J. BROWN, PETER C. BROWNING, JOHNT., -
CASTEEN, 111, JEROME A. GITT, WILLIAM H. GOODWIN, JR., MARYELLEN C.
HERRINGER, ROBERT A, INGRAM, DONALD M. JAMES, MACKEY J, McDONALD, -
JOSEPH NEUBAUER, TIMOTHY D. PROCTOR, ERNEST S. RADY, VAN L. RICHEY,
RUTH G. SHAW, LANTY L. SMITH, JOHN C. WHITAKER, JR., DONA DAVIS
YOUNG, WACHOVIA CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC, CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS
INC., MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, MORGAN

STANLEY & CO. INCORPORATED and UBS SECURITIES LLC,
Defendants,

s voovorris
——— —

SUMMONS
AND
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION
OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS

L e e e A e
e e m———

Coughlin Stoia Geller Rudman & Robbins LLP
58 South Service Road, Suite 200
Melville, NY 11747
Telephone: 631/367-7100
631/367-1173 (fax)

e ———— e
s e et e P et

erie———

Pursuant to 22 NYCRR 130-1.1, the undersigned, an aftorney admitted to practice in the court of
New York State, cevtifies that, upon information and belief and reasonable inguiry, the
contentions contained in the annexed document are not frivolous, .

Dated: January 31,2008 Signature Mﬁ/ W
g

Print Signer's Name Samuel H_Rudman

7
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ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION

I, Douglas W. Henkin , counsel for the Wachovia Defendants (see Rider) do hereby
certify pursuant to the Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 that to the best of my knowledge and belief the damages
recoverable in the above captioned civil action exceed the sum of $150,000 exclusive of interest and costs.

v Relief other than monetary damages is sought.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAIL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identity any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:
The Wachovia Defendants are separately filing a Fed. R, Civ. P. 7.1 disclosure stalement.

Please refer to NY-E Division of Business Rule 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District of New York removed from a New York State court located
in Nassay or Suffolk County: Yes.

2.) If you answered “no” above:

a.} Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau
or Suffolk County?

b.) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the
Eastern District?

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than
one} reside in Nassau or Suffolk County, o, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the
claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or Suffolk County?

(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most gignificant contacts),

Fam currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the
bar of this court,

Yeos Y No _

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action(s) in this or any other state or federal court?

Yes (If yes, please explain) No i

Please provide your E-MAIL Address and bar code below. Your bar code consists of the initials of your first and last
name and the last four digits of your social security number or any other four digit number registered by the attorney
with the Clerk of Court,

(This information must be provided pursuant to local rule 11.1(b) of the civil rules).

ATTORNEY BAR CODE: DH1751

E-MAITL Address: dhenkin@milbank.com

I consent to the use of electronic filing procedures adopted by the Court in Administrative Order No, 97-12, “In re
Electronic Filing Procedures(EIP)”, and consent 1o the electronic service of all papers.

Signature: 1 % : Z '&L"
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RIDER A

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS

Arlette Miller, on Behalf of Herself and All Others Similarly Situated.
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff:

Not identified in Complaint,
(c) Aftorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number):

COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP
Samuel H, Rudman

David A. Rosenfeld

Mario Alba, Jr.

58 South Service Road, Suite 200

Melville, NY 11747

Telephone: (631)-367-7100

COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP
Darren J. Robbins

David C. Walton

655 West Broadway, Suite 1900

San Diego, CA 92101

Telephone: (619) 231-1058

ABRAHAM FRUCHTER & TWERSKY LLP
Jack G. Fruchter

One Pennsylvania Plaza, Suite 2805

New York, NY 10119

Telephone: (212) 279-5050

I. (2) DEFENDANTS

Wachovia Corporation, Wachovia Capital Trust IX, G. Kennedy Thompson, Mark C. Treanor,
Thomas J. Wurtz, Peter M., Carlson, John D. Baker 11, Robert J, Brown, Peter C. Browning, John
T. Casteen, I1I, Jerome A, Giit, William H, Goodwin, Jr., Maryellen C. Herringer, Robert A.
Ingram, Donald M. James, Mackey J. McDonald, Joseph Neubauer, Timothy D. Proctor, Ernest
S. Rady, Van L. Richey, Ruth G. Shaw, Lanty L. Smith, John C. Whitaker, Jr., Dona Davis
Young, and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC (the “Wachovia Defendants”)

Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Morgan
Stanley & Co. Incorporated, and UBS Securities LLC.

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (in U.S. Plaintiff Cases Only):

This action is not a U.S. Plaintiff case.
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(¢) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)

MILBANK, TWEED, HADLEY & McCLOY LL.P
James N. Benedict

Douglas W, Henkin

Robert C. Hora

1 Chase Manhattan Plaza

New York, NY 10005-1413

Telephone; (212) 530-5000

Attorneys for Defendants Wachovia Corporation, Wachovia Capital Trust IX, G. Kennedy
Thompson, Mark C. Treanor, Thomas J. Wurtz, Peter M. Carison, John D. Baker II, Robert J.
Brown, Peter C. Browning, John T. Casteen, llI, Jerome A. Gitt, William H. Goodwin, Jr.,
Maryellen C. Herringer, Robert A. Ingram, Donald M. James, Mackey J. McDonald, Joseph
Neubauer, Timothy D. Proctor, Evrnest S, Rady, Van L. Richey, Ruth G. Shaw, Lanty L. Smith,
John C. Whitaker, Jr., Dona Davis Young, and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC

SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP

A. Robert Pietrzak

Patrick M. McGuirk

Saima Ahmed

787 Seventh Avenue

New York NY 10019
Telephone: (212) 839-5300

Attorneys for Defendants Citigroup Global Markets, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, and UBS Securities LLC

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

Plaintiffs have brought this action under Sections 11, 12(a)}(2), and 15 of the Securities Act of
1933, 15 U.S.C, §§ 77k, 771(a)(2), and 770 for alleged misrepresentations and/or omissions in a
registration and prospectus issucd in connection with Wachovia Capital Trust IX’s issuance of
6.375% Trust Preferred Securities.

Defendants have removed this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1441 and 15 U.S.C. §§ 77p(c) and 77v
and, in the alternative, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) and 1453,




